

Web Technology and City Apps

Feasibility of Strategies for IT Innovation in Local Government

Presented to the City Council of Lebanon, New Hampshire

PRS Policy Brief 1213-13 May 31, 2013

Prepared By:

Don Casler '14 Sebastian De Luca '14 Leigh Ann Humphries '13 Katherine Schade '13

This report was written by undergraduate students at Dartmouth College under the direction of professors in the Rockefeller Center. The Policy Research Shop is supported by a grant from the Fund for the Improvement of Postsecondary Education (FIPSE). The PRS reports were developed under FIPSE grant P116B100070 from the U.S. Department of Education. However, the contents of the PRS reports do not necessarily represent the policy of the U.S. Department of Education, and you should not assume endorsement by the Federal Government.



Nelson A. Rockefeller Center, 6082 Rockefeller Hall, Dartmouth College, Hanover, NH 03755 http://rockefeller.dartmouth.edu/shop/ • Email: Ronald.G.Shaiko@Dartmouth.edu



The Nelson A. Rockefeller Center at Dartmouth College The Center for Public Policy and the Social Sciences

Policy Research Shop

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	, 1
1. INTRODUCTION	. 1
1.1 Information Technology in Local Governments: An Overview 1.2 State of the City: Lebanon, NH	. 1 . 3
2. USES OF TECHNOLOGY IN OTHER NEW HAMPSHIRE CITIES	. 3
2.1 GENERAL OBSERVATIONS	. 3
3. OVERVIEW OF INNOVATIVE PRACTICES	6
4. CASE STUDIES	. 7
 4.1 MONTGOMERY COUNTY, MARYLAND — POPULATION 989,794 4.1.1 Strategic Plan & IT Governance. 4.1.2 Web-Based Presence. 4.2 ROCKVILLE, MARYLAND — POPULATION 62,334 4.2.1 Strategic Plan & IT Governance. 4.2.2 Web-Based Presence. 4.3 GILBERT, ARIZONA — POPULATION 211,951 4.3.1 Strategic Plan & IT Governance. 4.3.2 Web-Presence 4.4 CHESTERFIELD COUNTY, VIRGINIA — POPULATION 320,277. 4.4.1 Strategic Plan & IT Governance. 	7 7 8 9 10 10 11 12 12
5. OPTIONS FOR LEBANON	12
 5.1 Strategic Direction 5.2 Policy Specifics	12 13 15
6. CONCLUSION	16



Policy Research Shop

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In this paper, we analyze information technology (IT) innovation strategies across the United States and assess their applicability to the City of Lebanon, NH. Through collaboration with Lebanon's City Manager, Greg Lewis, we identify three goals that align with both community needs and the local government's capabilities. First, Lebanon seeks to enhance communication between citizens and government. Second, the City wants to optimize its web interface to increase accessibility and integrate mobile applications. Finally, Lebanon seeks to increase its website viewership and application use by residents.

To perform this study, we first analyze Lebanon's current programs and their statuses. We compare these to programs of cities with similar demographic and/or governmental profiles in New Hampshire. Then we analyze examples of IT innovation in local governments across the United States. We note that a comprehensive strategy contains three factors — a clear, publicly available strategic plan that details strategies and goals; a highly structured IT department; and a web-based presence. Having identified these key features, we select four localities (Montgomery County, Maryland; the City of Rockville, Maryland; the Town of Gilbert, Arizona; and Chesterfield County, Virginia) with comprehensive, clearly defined IT optimization strategies.

Altogether, these case studies offer useful and informative indicators of what the next steps may look like for tech advancement in Lebanon. Based on our targeted analysis of these cases, we construct a set of considerations pertinent for accomplishing the City's technology goals. At the broadest level, Lebanon could create an official overarching strategy to establish an explicit direction for its e-government. More specifically, Lebanon has a range of potential options, from the creation of digital dashboards to a more aggressive maintenance of various social media channels, for the strategy's implementation. Lebanon may wish to consider these options as it expands its use of digital technology.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Information Technology in Local Governments: An Overview

E-government refers to the systems and strategies in which governments use technology, such as websites or e-mail, in order to connect with, respond to, and provide services for citizens.¹ This allows for efficient transactions, convenient information delivery, and the online provision of services. Many local governments in the U.S. maintain a web interface where citizens can complete tax or parking payments, file licensing or auto registration, and access documents, announcements and records. These governments realize gains from efficiency through mobility and standardization. Services that once required multiple government employees and days to complete can now be quickly processed and catalogued electronically. Additionally, technological advancements are necessary to satisfy the demands of today's citizens for convenient, responsive online solutions to everyday tasks.² Yet beyond these two basic



incentives for investment in technology, governments have realized additional advantages by expanding IT infrastructures.³

- eAdministration improvements in internal governmental processes. Both citizens and governments benefit from faster electronic information dispersal, transactions, and general business. By integrating all documents, emails, calendars, and contact data within a single online system, employees can communicate more efficiently with citizens and one another. Removing the "middleman" reduces administrative burdens and allows more valuable allocations of resources.
- eCitizens rapid and widespread dissemination of information. Councils and committees can upload agendas, announcements or videos from meetings in real-time to make them available for public display and discussion. "Open data" initiatives release both aggregate statistical profiles and raw exportable databases. They can increase public awareness and facilitate independent analyses that, in turn, inform policy and performance. Having accessible online data also increases transparency and accountability of governmental officials and employees.
- **eSociety improved citizen participation in the democratic process.** The impact of e-government on civic participation is two-fold. First, online access to information facilitates public awareness about policy challenges and electoral cycles. This may motivate and inspire increased involvement in these stages of governance. Second, e-government provides the opportunity for public feedback in decision-making processes, through online surveys and satellite discussions.⁴

Participation in e-government generally exhibits four stages. On a basic level, governments initiate an internet presence ("website presence stage"). They then provide mechanisms for communication between government and citizens through email or online postings ("interaction and communication stage"). Next, governments create the capacity for citizens to transact governmental business, including applications, registration, and payments, online ("transactional stage"). Finally, the "transformational stage" involves interactive, open source, and wireless/mobile phone applications.⁵ IT transformation also often incorporates Geographic Information Systems (GIS), crowdsourcing, and "Web 2.0" features, such as social networking, blogs, and video sharing.⁶

Many local governments in the U.S., including Lebanon, NH, have entered the transactional stage, and some are experimenting in the transformational stage. Thorough evaluation of these practices is difficult because they vary widely across cities, counties, and towns and many programs are still in their infancy. We assess the design and implementation of strategies in the third and fourth stages and analyze their feasibility and potential modifications for Lebanon, NH. Given that Lebanon, NH has a comparatively substantial website presence and communication capacity, the City wishes to determine what strategies can effectively sustain long-term innovation in the final two stages of e-government development.



1.2 State of the City: Lebanon, NH

For its size and geographic location, Lebanon has a robust information technology department. It has already made substantial investments in e-governance and maintains a significant online presence. Efforts are currently underway to enhance the quality of governance through online communications and social media. The city is active on Twitter, updates its city manager blog regularly, and posts YouTube videos. IT support in Lebanon is a private entity that the city retains in-house to manage all technology needs. The two primary actors in revitalizing and maintaining Lebanon's infrastructure for tech-based outreach are the department director and the webmaster. Overall, Lebanon's online footprint and institutional configuration provide a strong base from which to expand.

2. USES OF TECHNOLOGY IN OTHER NEW HAMPSHIRE CITIES

2.1 General Observations

Many local governments use digital tools to communicate with citizens, but most have not fully taken advantage of online opportunities. For instance, all have websites that are updated consistently. However, the use of other tools like social media or case-specific e-newsletters is inconsistent. Most towns provide access to relevant city information and documents, as well as useful links and calendars for citizens and businesses. Key challenges across the board include the number of subscribers for social media (attracting more likes and followers), the creation of an intuitive user interface (matching visual appeal with ease of use), and the maintenance of town announcements (ensuring that updates occur in real time).

2.2 Case Specific Practices

The following is a summary of the ways in which other New Hampshire communities have begun to use digital technology to interact with their citizens. Each city has developed strategies that stress different aspects of digital communication. The details are as follows:

- **Berlin** Berlin makes it easy for citizens to subscribe via email to the specific information they want. Residents can sign up for email alerts on a wide-variety of city interests examples include "City News," "Parks and Rec Notices," and "School Announcements" in one centralized location. Facebook is used to showcase not only town events, but also town history. The heavy focus on photos, which have been shown to increase citizen engagement, puts a more personable "face" on city government.
- **Claremont** The city of Claremont has a section of its website titled "How Do I? Help Center," that directs visitors to a frequently asked questions page. Links for citizen support are located on the front page, reducing barriers and providing answers quickly. The "Notify Me" section supplies email alerts. There are more than a dozen



Policy Research Shop

specifications that can be selected by a subscribing citizen. This is done via a transactionbased e-newsletter software tool.

- **Concord** Concord has a user interface for its website that works to create a streamlined user experience. Citizens do not need to travel through many links to access important information, and most can be accessed via one-click directly from the homepage.
- **Dover** The city of Dover allows citizens to complete their vehicle registration online, and makes navigation of the site simple and automatic. The city includes a "most requested information" list on the front page of the website, providing quick access to important links, forms and contacts. The "Find My Rep" feature on website allows citizens to easily find and contact their local representative by typing in a street address.
- **Keene** To allow citizens to remain updated on city dialogue, Town Meeting videos are all uploaded online. Similar to the Claremont "How Do I?" section, Keene provides links to FAQs on every page of the website. Keene maintains separate Facebook pages for Public Works, Parks and Rec, and the Keene Public Library. While this creates a challenge in driving growth of subscribers, it has allowed the city to communicate with more niche markets and be more useful in its delivery of content.
- **Manchester** The city of Manchester has included a donation and volunteer link that is easily accessible from the homepage, allowing people to quickly and easily donate to specific town projects.
- Nashua Nashua prominently features grant applications on its front page, as well as other engaging town activities such as art events. Another portion of the site entitled "Citizen Services Requests" allows citizens to easily report local concerns and requests that are then sorted and filed to be addressed by appropriate city departments. The city also provides a live stream of government TV on its website.
- **Rochester** Rochester uses Facebook most actively, with pages for eight different town organizations. While there is still room for growth in followers for each page, the separation of City departments can offer a more tailored and useful experience for residents. Rochester uses Facebook most actively, with pages for eight different town organizations. While there is still room for growth in followers for each page, the separation of City departments can offer a more tailored and useful experience for residents.

These strategies are summarized according to types of use, in Figure 1. As that chart shows, many cities have developed strategies for addressing eCitizens and eSociety. However, there may be opportunities for innovation and leadership in eAdministration, which is not as fully developed.



Figure 1: Typology of Digital Technology Strategies

City	<u>eAdministration</u>	<u>eCitizens</u>	<u>eSociety</u>
Berlin		- Email alerts tailored to	- Facebook page
		specific city interests	showcasing town events
			and history
Claremont	- Transaction-based	- "Notify Me" feature	- "How Do I?" section of
	e-newsletter software	enables customizable	website directs visitors to
		email bulletins	FAQ page
Concord		- "one-click" access to	
		information directly from	
		homepage	
Dover	- Citizens can	- "Most requested	- "Find My Rep" connects
	complete vehicle	information" on front	citizens with elected
	registration online	page	officials
Keene		- Town Meeting video	- Separate Facebook pages
		recordings posted online	for various service
		- Link to FAQs present	departments
		on every website page	
Manchester			- Homepage hosts links to
			donate and volunteer
Nashua	- Electronic system	- Live stream of	- "Citizen Service
	for sorting and filing	government TV provided	Requests" feature permits
	requests	online	reporting of local
			concerns
Rochester			- Facebook pages for eight
			different town
			organizations



Policy Research Shop

3. OVERVIEW OF INNOVATIVE PRACTICES

Technology innovation in local governments involves both *internal* processes (changes in governmental approaches and business) and *external* processes (outputs, e.g. web portal, mobile applications). The adoption of technology must be paired with supportive policies and governance structures to implement streamlined IT applications effectively. In this context, value-adding web design can form the foundation of an e-communication system that enhances responsiveness to citizens, transparency, and online transactional efficiency and ease of use.⁸

Through our analysis, we determine that policies with three main characteristics constitute the best practices for local governments seeking to expand web-based and mobile technology. These practices, outlined below, are utilized to differing degrees and with varying methods in the case studies.

- a. **Strategic Plan** For long-term planning, the priorities of all IT operations could be aligned with the administration's strategic goals, the community's needs, and the area's technological capacities. These plans could be treated as "living documents," revised and reevaluated as needed.⁹
- b. **Coordinated IT Governance Structures** The Chief Information Officer (CIO) is the primary IT advisor, who reports directly to the Chief Administrative Officer of a town, city, or county.¹⁰ The CIO directs and oversees the design, execution, and evaluation of IT initiatives. An IT advisory committee structure facilitates communication and coordination across agencies. The CIO joins with the government's executive directors and directors of critical agencies (e.g. Health and Human Services, Public Safety, and Energy), who then provide direction, resources, and necessary insight.
- c. Model Web-based Presence For basic services, a model website is comprehensive and accessible.¹¹ It presents and archives the budgets and financial information, as well as meeting schedules and minutes. The website lists council members and administration officials with full contact information. Information on zoning ordinance, permit processing, and current contracts is also available. The processes for requesting and accessing public records are clearly defined, while lobbying practices and expenses are disclosed. Tax revenue data is accessible, and residents are able to pay taxes online.

We further identify a "model" website as one that provides these basic services:

a. Citizen Engagement – The government disseminates information and solicits citizens' opinions. The website offers multiple formats for citizens to give feedback, including social media, streaming reports, and video/mobile applications.



Policy Research Shop

- **b. Open Government** This is the political doctrine that opens government and state administration to scrutiny and oversight at all levels.¹² Governments provide access to raw data that is relevant to performance and public interest in a readable online format. Through the website's open data system, anyone can download data, perform their own policy analyses, and make conclusions about government performance.
- **c. Online/Mobile Service Delivery** Access to services on mobile devices is a key to facilitating effective, efficient service delivery. The processes of request, provision, and feedback are seamlessly integrated on multiple technological devices. This means a citizen can choose to use a mobile app, personal computer, text, or phone call to accomplish tasks in a standardized way and can switch between devices easily.¹³

Unfortunately, the newness of e-government trends provides little opportunity to examine final outcomes and precludes the possibility of a cost-benefit analysis for most innovative technology programs.

4. CASE STUDIES

4.1 Montgomery County, Maryland — Population 989,794

4.1.1 Strategic Plan & IT Governance

Montgomery County has an organization "umbrella" that oversees all department-level projects, including software innovation, time-recording data systems for payrolls, public safety and HHS modernization projects, and others.¹⁴ A technology platform called CountyStat facilitates cross-departmental cooperation on large county-level projects.¹⁵

4.1.2 Web-Based Presence

Montgomery County designates four main categories that constitute its web-based presence: (1) *access*Montgomery, which offers information about services, performance reports, internal audits, budgets, contracts, and other items, (2) *data*Montgomery which includes various disaggregate data sets, (3) *engage*Montgomery which has options for citizen feedback, exchange of ideas and concerns, and participation in live online discussions, and (4) *mobile*Montgomery involving the county's mobile apps and sites.¹⁶

For example, Montgomery County maintains a "results-based accountability system" known as CountyStat, which presents formatted data from third parties such as the U.S. Census Bureau and the FBI.¹⁷ To evaluate performance, CountyStat contains progress plans from all departments and offices, a data retrieval dashboard, and a calendar of weekly meetings.¹⁸ The selected indicators, which depict affordable housing, transportation networks, childhood educational attainment, crime and poverty rates, and other variables, reflect both agency performance and quality-of-life in Montgomery County. Moreover, they can be compared to benchmarks from 45



comparable counties nationally.¹⁹ Departmental performance reports disseminate information quickly and effectively, first with a concise table that specifies what each department does (and for whom), as well as how much a given activity costs. This table is followed by simple graphs and explanations of "The Story Behind the Performance" and "Restricting Factors." To support this system, Montgomery County created a Rotational Fellowship Program, which trains County employees to cultivate and improve their data analysis, their presentation skills, and their understanding of performance assessments.

Montgomery County also supports a central contact center for its "MC311" project, which provides a 3-1-1 phone number for non-emergency information and services.²⁰ Requests made by phone or online can then be tracked on the county website. For example, citizens can quickly access real-time updates on community events or emergency situations, such as a flu epidemic or dangerous snowstorm.

Overall, the CountyStat system, as well as the accessibility of other county information, provides key advantages for Montgomery County. Regular monitoring and assessment enforces outcomes-focused departments, encourages transparency and accountability, and provides citizens with important information for decision-making. Using information obtained from the county's open data initiatives, Montgomery County citizens can engage policymakers and access county services electronically. Through the *engage*Montgomery crowd-sourcing platform, they can submit concerns, participate in Virtual Town Hall Meetings with the County Executive, the Director of the Department of Recreation, or the Director of the Office of Consumer Protection, as well as read related transcripts and written responses.²¹

*Mobile*Montgomery offers a listing of the county's mobile sites and apps, along with instructions. For example, with *BookMyne*, citizens can access library accounts and information and locate and reserve library materials, while *ParkNOW!* allows them to pay for parking remotely and monitor when parking meters expire. *Ride on Real Time* integrates mobile apps, texting, and GIS and Web operations to determine a person's location, identify bus routes and maps to the nearest routes, provide arrival times, along with other capabilities.²² Of note, Montgomery County's website reorganization and advancements into the transformational stages of e-government have been very recent in 2012 and 2013 and therefore lack thorough evaluation; however, these innovations are predicted to create "greater service improvements and efficiencies in the future."

4.2 Rockville, Maryland — Population 62,334

4.2.1 Strategic Plan & IT Governance

Rockville's five-year plan frames a concrete vision for IT innovation and the city's short and long-term strategic concerns. The document provides a roadmap for the city based on input from its network of stakeholders and acknowledgement of its resources. It establishes which priorities deserve the most urgent attention given the ability of developments in IT to improve efficiency, effectiveness, responsiveness, transparency and accessibility.²³



Most importantly, Rockville has chosen to define the terms on which it will measure the performance of this five-year plan clearly and systematically. It classifies *goals* as "the City's main area of focus for information technology" that "indicate the results that the City needs to achieve;" *objectives* as "the activities or action steps needed to obtain the results envisioned by the goals;" and *strategic initiatives* as the components that "break down the objectives into their more specific parts and activities."²⁴

At the top of Rockville's list is communication and collaboration.²⁵ Here, Rockville has two objectives: first, to enhance multiple channels of communication and collaboration, and second, to enhance its mobile computing communication system.

For the IT department consulting service, the plan cites a need for expertise, coordination, and accountability. Rockville's plan focuses on the importance of consulting services, research and development, communication with staff and the public, and policy implementation.²⁶ The objectives are first to improve IT best practices through targeted technology applications in each department and then to progress into the future with research and development.

A third goal of Rockville's five-year plan is to improve its information and document management. Given that government at all levels uses, creates, receives, maintains and distributes vast quantities of information, these documents must be conveniently accessible for citizens and staff alike.²⁷ As part of Rockville's effort to "go green," it has highlighted cataloging and archiving as two principal planks of its five-year plan.

Yet another piece of the Rockville plan is software integration and interaction. The city has discovered that universal software platforms can help to streamline interdepartmental interaction by reducing redundancy and facilitating communication. Accordingly, the city is focusing on eliminating these gaps and increasing quality of service for all users.²⁸

The final section of Rockville's plan seeks to emphasize the essential role that IT has assumed in local government and the funding that it deserves. It asserts that while the efficiency gains from continuous IT investment might not always be easy to quantify, they are substantial and necessary for governing in the 21st century.²⁹ At the same time, the plan recognizes the need for flexibility and for regular reassessment.

4.2.2 Web-Based Presence

The Rockville plan follows up the city's systematic approach to IT Governance with targeted strategies to address the challenges of citizen engagement and efficient management. To improve communication and collaboration, Rockville plans to expand its website's capacity for two-way communication, interact directly with citizens through social networking sites, and encourage dialogue at city meetings. The city is also seeking to create a virtual private network (VPN) over which its employees can remotely access information and be responsive to residents even when they are not in the office.³⁰

Rockville plans to improve IT consulting services by consistently reassessing how each city department can best use technology. The city also wants to use its various media outlets to



communicate its progress. Rockville hopes to investigate various forms of smart computing technology, from water meters and traffic lights to security and data collection, all of which could optimize service quality by helping staff to make better informed decisions more quickly.³¹

To increase the availability of documentation, Rockville will standardize the format and access points of frequently requested information and continue the shift towards online record-keeping. Rockville envisions an online "dashboard" for the dissemination of this information that creates an intuitive and pleasant user experience.³² Furthermore, Rockville estimates that all of these standardization efforts will have added benefits in terms of coordination, ease of access, and informed decision-making when working with other localities on public policy issues.

Finally, the five-year plan suggests three routes for promoting better service delivery through software integration. First, it highlights the possible improvements to citizen relationship management. Given the ease with which departments can coordinate via web-based systems, Rockville should be able to better track constituent complaints so that they do not get lost in the shuffle. Second, the plan seeks to utilize GPS and tracking systems to monitor government vehicles in real time. Third, Rockville will continue to expand its interactive voice response systems to give citizens the ability to check the status of personal or community concerns at any time.³³

4.3 Gilbert, Arizona — Population 211,951

4.3.1 Strategic Plan & IT Governance

In Gilbert, a communications team created in 2012 consists of a Media and Community Relations Administrator, two Digital Journalists, and a Multimedia Specialist, all under the guidance of a Chief Digital Officer.³⁴ According to Chief Digital Officer Dana Berchman, the organizational changes were intended to emphasize technology rather than conventional public information tools such as press conferences. Gilbert developed and launched its first mobile app in 2012, which allows for reporting of neighborhood problems like overgrown weeds or barking dogs. The Chief Digital Officer intends to increase mobile app functionality to provide access to crime statistics and tourist information.

Frequent collaboration with other local government agencies and external stakeholders allows the Communications team to implement effective and useful structural changes to IT operations. Within the Communications Department itself, policies to enhance digital coordination include shared calendars, email mailing list, a digital toolkit for sharing effective methodologies, and training sessions about how to use communication tools.

In 2012, Gilbert expanded its IT governance structure to include a Social Media Advisory and Research Taskforce, which meets quarterly to discuss current social media trends.³⁵ The taskforce comprises social media leaders from town institutions and local businesses, including ASU Polytechnic, Chandler-Gilbert Community College, Dignity Health, Deep Space Marketing, Gilbert Chamber of Commerce, Gilbert Farmers Market, Phoenix-Mesa Gateway Airport, and the Fire, Police, and Parks and Recreation Departments.



Gilbert's webpage outlines a very comprehensive and clearly defined strategic plan to "Be a Technology Leader."³⁶ A table with the 2012 and 2013 goals has four columns: 1) *Department/Contact* with a link to the email address of the head contact person, 2) *Goal* with highly specific goals and timelines (e.g. "Increase the number of files available electronically from 1450 to 4000 by 12/1/12"), 3) *Expected Outcome(s)* with a short summary of the desired outcome as well as the result if completed (e.g. "Development Services staff members exceeded their goal early by increasing the number of files available electronically from 1450 to 4160"), and, 4) *Status* which may include the following: "In progress, on track;" "Completed, at or above target;" "Completed, below target;" or "On hold."

4.3.2 Web-Presence

The web innovation strategy for Gilbert highlights four primary focus areas: Open Government, Access, Engagement, and Industry.³⁷ As of February 2013, this strategy has not been fully implemented and is therefore unable to be evaluated comprehensively. Nevertheless, it underscores the features of a comprehensively designed strategy with breadth and depth in regard to each of the innovative practices described above.

To increase transparency and efficiency, Gilbert intends to use its website as a platform for open information. In September 2012, the Town expanded accessibility of Public Records by including new sections, such as Resolutions and Ordinances and provided in the minutes for all Council & Boards and Commissions meetings.³⁸ The Communications office will establish a "digital newsroom," which will distribute public service announcements and information on legislation in accordance with information provided in Public Records. Additionally, a planned website redesign project aims to make the portal more "citizen-centric" with improved search functions, a goal of getting to information in "three clicks or less," and accessibility at multiple ability levels in order to ensure usability and customization. Consolidated resources will also be promoted with the launch of a "Town Apps hub" hosting mobile applications including Town-created apps and external apps.³⁹

To achieve its goals in the focus areas of Access and Citizen Engagement, Gilbert is pursuing two overarching policies. First, Gilbert seeks to expand free public Wi-Fi and to establish a system that highlights businesses and public spaces where free Wi-Fi is available. The Town of Gilbert webpage will work with business and government broadband providers to create additional wireless hotspots.⁴⁰ These policies drive citizen engagement by reducing the "digital divide" that marginalizes those without technological resources and Internet access. To that end, in collaboration with Internet providers, Gilbert will host public signup events to support residents in obtaining Internet access. Second, the Town is leading an expansive social media campaign to include Facebook, Twitter, WordPress, Flickr, Tumblr, Vimeo and YouTube, featuring live video streams and links to departments and individual governmental officials.⁴¹ Social media will also be a primary tool by which the Town of Gilbert seeks feedback through "community-led discussions, with the Town playing an informative, supportive role in the background." Finally, to enhance overall citizen involvement in strategic IT planning, Gilbert has sought feedback on communication efforts through a digital survey, which closed on January 31, 2013.⁴²



4.4 Chesterfield County, Virginia — Population 320,277

4.4.1 Strategic Plan & IT Governance

In 2010, the Center for Digital Government recognized Chesterfield as the best overall county Web portal in the country.⁴³ This followed a website redesign that introduced a citizen GIS mapping application and the community development information system, both of which got direction from steering committees with citizen members. The new web interfaces stresses user-friendliness. Citizens are connected to government through social media and interactive mapping. Additionally, constituents can personalize their online experiences with various language translations and font sizing choices. Another aspect of Chesterfield's redesign was a new organization of the Information Systems Technology Department to reduce redundancy and increase collaboration. The department uses mobile technologies, telework, and hosted solutions to respond quickly to citizen demands. Finally, Chesterfield implemented a dedicated Internet channel to promote transparent governance. County board and commission meetings are now streamed live on the Internet, which allows constituents to view meetings anytime, anywhere.⁴⁴

5. OPTIONS FOR LEBANON

5.1 Strategic Direction

How does the preceding discussion apply to Lebanon? This section will attempt to classify the aforementioned innovative practices according to their consistency with the city of Lebanon's goals for its technology strategy. In doing so, it will suggest not just particular technologies or programs, but also a framework for implementation. We have already delineated innovation strategies as either internal or external. Below, we will suggest that these can be further broken down into *strategic* or *specific* changes. Given that Lebanon's priorities are to increase both the level of two-way communication and resident exposure to its digital communications, there are a host of strategic and specific options available. However, it is also essential to remember the inherent limitations of our case studies — the unfortunate reality of being on the cutting edge is that we primarily examine larger geographic areas that have varying ability to finance big information technology endeavors.

First, Lebanon might consider adopting a more explicitly comprehensive approach to IT management in line with the ideas laid out in "Best Practices." The city already has a "master plan" that looks ahead to 2030 on other policy dimensions, which could be mirrored to develop a coherent strategy for technology use as Lebanon heads forward into the 21st century. These would be strategic-level changes — for example, creating a plan for the administration of digital services that sets short, medium and long-term goals for implementing projects and measuring success; designating a Chief Information Officer to oversee the coordination and execution of various technology initiatives; and a detailed, transparent model for public representation of government that stresses citizen engagement, open access to data and the integration of



communication channels. Before delving into the optimization of specific policy sectors or technology channels, there are general questions that Lebanon could reflect on:

- How does the city envision the development of its technology infrastructure over the next year or two or five? Some thought could be given to plotting a strategic direction with clear benchmarks to indicate progress.
- What responsibilities will be assigned to the Chief Information Officer? How will this office balance immediate concerns with the need for guidance and perspective on the department's the long term priorities?
- How can Lebanon use its various digital platforms to promote a culture of citizen engagement, open government and top-notch service delivery in all of its endeavors?

Choosing a policy direction is essential to producing outputs that make citizen-government interactions more efficient. Some explicit examples of successful IT governance strategies come from the case studies described above.

- Montgomery has an intriguing "umbrella" structure for IT governance. Headed by a steering committee whose purpose is to organize all tech-related projects and monitor progress, it is a truly collaborative management effort that emphasizes interdepartmental cooperation while keeping an eye on the county's strategic direction.
- Rockville takes a deeply structured approach to IT management. The city's explicit delineation of goals, objectives and strategic initiatives provides a useful framework for thinking about what to strive for and how to judge performance. Meanwhile, its repeated justification of proposed action, consciousness of scope and identification of necessary ingredients reflects concern for both immediate and future demands.
- While Gilbert's communications team may be an unrealistic model for Lebanon in terms of size, each position created in Gilbert designates an important field of digital strategy for Lebanon to address.
- Chesterfield's award-winning website redesign was directed by a steering committee with citizen members, which reflects the municipality's attention to the trajectory of its IT service provision as well as concern for citizen input.

5.2 Policy Specifics

For specific policy ideas, the best practices that we have collected from around the country provide a wide menu from which to choose. Some of the ideas that are most relevant to Lebanon, based on practicality of implementation and the value they could add in terms of citizen engagement, include:



Policy Research Shop

- Montgomery County's "MC311" project is a reporting service by which residents can request or provide information via telephone.
- Rockville is pursuing a citizen "dashboard" as the centerpiece of its IT strategy. This will serve as an aggregator for city news, important and digitally enabled documents and records, and updates on IT services and projects, as well as a forum for customer relationship management.
- Chesterfield County, VA has language and font features on its website that enable users to choose their language and font size for more accessible dissemination of information. The county streams board and commission meetings on the internet, which is a step beyond Lebanon's practice of posting meeting minutes and audio clips.
- Gilbert, AZ has enabled all of its public areas with free wireless internet and pursued an aggressive social media strategy on Facebook, Twitter and Foursquare.

Regarding social media strategy, Lebanon might reevaluate how it uses avenues like Facebook and Twitter with regards to two-way communication. For example, tweeting frequently to update followers is a great way to keep citizens informed, but only if the account has a substantial following. To attract more followers, and utilize social media as a two-way street, Lebanon might think about:

- Making an effort to follow as many city residents as possible. Borrowing from the Obama campaign's philosophy, residents are more likely to become active on Twitter regarding city events if they know that tweeting at the city of Lebanon's account will garner attention or a response. This should help to build citizen engagement by making them feel important and included.
- Twitter as a news aggregator. Conceptualizing Twitter in this manner would allow the city government to cull information about its residents in new and exciting ways. By identifying residents who tweet frequently and provide accurate information, Lebanon can use Twitter as a monitoring mechanism on both a daily basis and in times of emergency.

What relevant policy prescriptions can we derive from other localities in New Hampshire? The case-specific survey detailed above does not highlight many major trends apart from the universal challenges that municipalities face in crafting a coherent and comprehensive IT strategy. Our examination of these other cities demonstrates that there is considerable variance in prioritization and degree of implementation. Nevertheless, there are many strategies these communities utilize that Lebanon might consider:

• An email subscription service tailored based on residents' specific interests. (*Berlin, NH*; *Claremont, NH*)



Policy Research Shop

- An image-heavy Facebook page providing control over the message presented to constituents. (*Berlin, NH*)
- A website designed to immediately push visitors toward the information they need most. (*Claremont, NH; Concord, NH*)
- Digitized services such as the registration of motor vehicles and the identification of local representatives. (*Dover, NH*)
- Posted video recordings of Town Meetings online. (*Keene, NH*)
- Compartmentalized constituent demands through separate Facebook pages for different city departments and services. (*Keene, NH*)
- Online donations opportunities and volunteer signups prominently linked on homepage. (*Manchester, NH*)
- A front page encouraging engagement, publicizing city events, and allowing citizens to initiate requests for service. (*Nashua*, *NH*)

5.3 Implementation Challenges

With limited resources and a need for efficiency, localities also need to assess the challenges that they will face when implementing and managing a comprehensive digital communication strategy. These challenges cover topics ranging from addressing concerns about citizen access to services provided, how to increase exposure and engagement with constituents, and ultimately how to best manage and maintain digital channels in a productive and value-adding manner.

- **a.** Constituent Access to Technology Lebanon could work to increase the number of digital communication channels and improve access to them, in order to maximize the reach and efficacy of technology platforms. This includes but is not limited to:
 - Increasing access to free or low-cost Wi-Fi
 - Creating applications for multiple platforms and devices
 - Designing user friendly tools that do not discriminate based on technological competence
- **b.** Increasing Scale Lebanon currently publishes content and provides avenues of communication with residents in a more substantial way than many of its counterparts in New Hampshire. Even so, the current number of citizens accessing these digital channels



is small — Lebanon's Twitter account has just 212 followers and its YouTube account's viewership is equally sparse. To ensure that efforts to maintain active digital communication channels with constituents are worth the energy and resources utilized, it's important for the City of Lebanon to address the challenges of increasing citizen engagement and exposure. This includes but is not limited to:

- Increasing followers on social media channels.
- Attracting subscribers to e-newsletter options.
- Building a base of subscribers to text message-based town alerts.
- Promoting the download and use of any applications or web resources published by the City.
- **c.** Management and Consistency of Communication as Lebanon looks into new ways of communicating with residents via digital channels, it will be important to ensure that channels are actively updated with a consistent message across platforms. Failing to publish content and important information may lead to decreased citizen engagement and permanent abandonment of utilizing digital tools to access town information. Strategies for managing digital communication and creating a cohesive vision across platforms include but are not limited to:
 - Maintenance of various digital platforms and channels, ranging from publishing content on a social media site to responding to resident requests via email, etc.
 - Effective content strategy and scheduling to ensure that information published to residents is both useful and accessible.
 - Restructuring of the City of Lebanon's IT team in order to most efficiently delegate management responsibilities.

6. CONCLUSION

If Lebanon chooses to pursue the technology goals discussed in this paper, valuable precedents from across the country could inform both specific and strategic level decisions. These best practices can be implemented to overcome common areas of difficulty, such as constituent access to technology, citizen engagement, and IT management. At the same time, these strategies and programs must be tailored to the needs and resources of Lebanon. The city may not need or be able to reach the scale or scope of larger municipalities like Montgomery or Rockville. Nevertheless, this analysis provides an overarching theme of highly organized IT governance along with a host of particular policy options.



Policy Research Shop

REFERENCES

¹Greenberg, Sherri; Newell, Angela. "Transparency Issues in E-Governance and Civic Engagement." in *Active Citizen Participation in E-Government*. Eds. Aroon Manoharan and Marc Holzer. 2012. p. 44.

http://www.utexas.edu/lbj/cpg/docs/research_transparency_egov_2012.pdf

²Sundstrom, Linda-Marie. "i-Government: Interactive Government Enabling Civic Engagement and a New Volunteerism." Citizen 2.0: Public and Governmental Interaction Through Web 2.0 Technologies. March 2012. pp. 291-308. Print.

³Kim, Hyung N.; Kavanaugh, Andrea; Smith-Jackson, Tonya L. "Implementation of Internet Technology for Local Government Website: Design Guidelines." *Proceedings of the 40th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences – 2007.* January 29, 2007. Online. <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/summary?doi=10.1.1.100.2541</u>

⁴eGovernment for Development. "What is eGovernment?" in *Success and Failure in eGovernment Projects*. October 2008. Online.

http://www.egov4dev.org/success/definitions.shtml

⁵Greenberg and Newell, pp. 45.

⁶Ibid, pp. 46.

⁷New Hampshire municipality websites: berlinnh.gov; claremontnh.com; concordnh.gov; ci.dover.nh.us; manchesternh.gov; gonashua.com; rochesternh.net

⁸"Digital Counties and Digital Cities Survey: Best Practice Guide for Local Government." Center For Digital Government. Online. Pp. 4.

http://www.cnjg.org/s_cnjg/bin.asp?CID=10859&DID=54250&DOC=FILE.DOC ⁹Ibid.

¹⁰"Montgomery County, Maryland Chief Information Officer. (Director, Department of Technology Services)." *Montgomery County, MD*. Online.

http://www6.montgomerycountymd.gov/content/ohr/careers/CIO/chief_information_officer.pdf¹¹"Comparison of each state's county websites." *Sunshine Review*. Online.

http://sunshinereview.org/index.php/County_websites, state-by-state_comparison¹²"Transparency checklist." *Sunshine Review*.

http://sunshinereview.org/index.php/Transparency_checklist

¹³Sundstrom, 291.

¹⁴"Leggett Announces New Open Government Efforts; New Website and Council Legislation Ensure Even Better Transparency, Accessibility and Efficiency." December 5, 2012. *Montgomery County, Maryland. News Release*. Online.

http://www6.montgomerycountymd.gov/apps/News/press/PR_details.asp?PrID=9047

¹⁵Raths, David. "Will the Chief Innovation Officer Transform Government?" *Government Technology*. January 31, 2012. Online.

¹⁶Montgomery County, Maryland. News Release. Online.

¹⁷"CountyStat." *Montgomery County, Maryland*. Online.

http://www6.montgomerycountymd.gov/mcgtmpl.asp?url=/content/exec/stat/index.asp



The Nelson A. Rockefeller Center at Dartmouth College

The Center for Public Policy and the Social Sciences

Policy Research Shop

¹⁸"Montgomery County Performance Dashboard." Montgomery County, Maryland. Online. http://www2.montgomerycountymd.gov/countystat/ ¹⁹"Indicator Project." *Montgomery County, Maryland.* Online. http://www6.montgomerycountymd.gov/mcgtmpl.asp?url=/content/exec/stat/indicators.asp ²⁰"MC311." *Montgomery County, Maryland*. Online. http://www3.montgomerycountymd.gov/311/Home.aspx²¹"engageMontgomery." *Montgomery County, Maryland*. Online. http://engage.montgomerycountymd.gov/ ²²"mobileMontgomery." *Montgomery County, Maryland*. Online. http://montgomerycountymd.gov/open/mobile.html ²³"Strategic Plan." City of Rockville, Maryland. Online. http://www.rockvillemd.gov/government/it/strategicplan/summarv ²⁴Ibid. ²⁵Ibid. ²⁶"IT Department Consulting Service." *City of Rockville, Maryland*. Online. http://www.rockvillemd.gov/government/it/strategicplan/goals/goal2 ²⁷"Information and Document Management." *City of Rockville, Maryland*. Online. http://www.rockvillemd.gov/government/it/strategicplan/goals/goal4 ²⁸"Software Integration and Interaction." *City of Rockville, Maryland*. Online. http://www.rockvillemd.gov/government/it/strategicplan/goals/goal5 ²⁹"Prioritization and Funding of Information." *City of Rockville, Maryland*. Online. http://www.rockvillemd.gov/government/it/strategicplan/goals/goal6 ³⁰"Communication and Collaboration." *City of Rockville, Maryland*. Online. http://www.rockvillemd.gov/government/it/strategicplan/goals/goal1 ³¹"IT Department Consulting Service." *City of Rockville, Maryland*. Online. http://www.rockvillemd.gov/government/it/strategicplan/goals/goal2 ³²"Information and Document Management." *City of Rockville, Maryland*. Online. http://www.rockvillemd.gov/government/it/strategicplan/goals/goal4 ³³"Software Integration and Interaction." *City of Rockville, Maryland*. Online. http://www.rockvillemd.gov/government/it/strategicplan/goals/goal5 ³⁴Leavitt, Parker. "Gilbert town communications going digital." *The Republic*. October 17, 2012. Online. http://www.azcentral.com/community/gilbert/articles/2012/10/12/20121012gilbert-towncommunications-going-digital.html#ixzz2LWxSBasL ³⁵"Gilbert's State of the Town Goes Digital." *Town of Gilbert, Arizona*. Online. http://gilberttownhalltalks.wordpress.com/ ³⁶"Strategic Initiatives." *Town of Gilbert*. Online. <u>http://www.gilbertaz.gov/strategic/#technology</u> ³⁷"Digital Road Map: Leading Arizona's Digital Future." *Town of Gilbert*. Online. http://www.gilbertaz.gov/digitalroadmap/digital road map gilbertaz.pdf ³⁸"Public Records Changes to Town Website." *Town of Gilbert. Headline News and* Announcements. ³⁹"Digital Roadmap," pp. 8. ⁴⁰Ibid, pp. 6.



The Nelson A. Rockefeller Center at Dartmouth College

The Center for Public Policy and the Social Sciences

Policy Research Shop

⁴¹Ibid, pp. 8.

⁴²"Gilbert Digital Survey." *Town of Gilbert*. Online.

http://www.surveymonkey.com/s/NN657Q3?CFID=69869795&CFTOKEN=29eccd4ef8b3a925-AA61989A-E5E6-874D-

ABB4DCC90C29AC0E&jsessionid=8430f9b9cf37b912a8f7a6f2c422232336b

⁴³ "Digital Counties and Digital Cities Survey: Best Practice Guide for Local Government."
 Center For Digital Government. Online. Pp. 34.

http://www.cnjg.org/s_cnjg/bin.asp?CID=10859&DID=54250&DOC=FILE.DOC

⁴⁴"Chesterfield County Media Center." *Chesterfield County, Virginia*. Online. http://www.chesterfield.gov/content3.aspx?id=9375